# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 8/8/2023 2:15 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/9/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102255-7

SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TALON CUTLER-FLINN,

Appellant,

V.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

Respondent,

APPELLANTS PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

From Division II Court of Appeals No. 56986-8

> Talon Cutler-Flien 405061 Washington State Penitentiary 1313 N. 13th Ave. Walla Walla, WA 99362 (509) 525-3610

# TABLE OF 'UTHORITIES

### Table of Cases

Cantu v. Yakima Sch Dist. No. 7 23 Wn App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 661 (2022)	7-9

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Talon Cutler-Flinn asks this court to accept review of the Court Of Appeals Division II decision terminating review designated in part B of this motion.

#### P. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Flinn requests discretionary review of section I.

A-B of the opinion. A copy of the opinion is in the

Appendix at pages A - 1 through 16.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is A Record Containing Information Referenced By A Governmental Agency In The Conduct Or Performance Of The Agencies Function And Decision Making Process Used By The Agency As Defined In RCW 42 56 010(3) Subjecting The Record To Disclosure Under RCW 42.56.070(1) Even If The Agency Personnel Did Not Physically Look At The Re ord?
- 2. Does A Determination An Agency Conducted An Adequate Search For Responsive Records Absolve The Agency From Liability Under The PRA RCW 42.56.550(4) When Responsive Records Exist Put Are Not Disclosed To The Requestor?
- 1. The Appellate Court Erred When It Determined The Records Identified In Flinn's Custody Facility Plan Where Not Used By Cindy Meyer In Her Preparation Of Flinns Classification Review. Custody Facility Plan, And The Decisions Of The Facility Risk Management Team For Flinn's Janualy 1020 Classification Review And Hearing.
- The Appellate Court Erred When It Determined The Departments Adequate Search Absolved The Department From Liability Under The Public Records Act Although The Department Has Responsive Records It Has Not Produced In Response To Flinn's Request For All Classification Records.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Legislarure has mandated the Department establish classification teams to evaluate prisoners placement in jobs and custody levels. 'The teams at each facility shall determine suitable placement based on the offenders risk,

C

behavior, or other factors considered by the team. RCW 72.09.682. The Department established a classification policy and procedure to fulfill this mandate. CP 372-93.

A prisoners classification counselor uses several records in the prisoners file in preparation of a classification hearing CP 104-25.

On January 17, 2020 Flinn's counselor, Cindy Meyer created a Classification Hearing Notice/Appearance Whiver (Classification Notice) for a review. CP 138. As part of the review Meyer created a Custody Facility Plan (Facility Plan). CP 140-42. The Facility Plan "[r]eflects the information considered as part of a given classification process and the decisions that are made in that classification ection." CP 367 11. 8-9. The January 2020 Facility Plan reflects "[Flinn] lost earned time for the month of May 2019 for being terminated from his job as a result of an infraction." CP 402-03. The Facility Plan does not identify the infraction. CP 400-03. Infraction records are retained in the prisoners permanent file. WAC 137-28-300(3). This was a significant change from Flinn's January 2019 classification. CP 395-98.

Flinn submitted a PRA request 'requesting all records used in this [January 2020] classification process." CP 454. Chase McMillan acknowledged the request and estimated 32 business days to produce an installment of records. CP 460.

According to Department records, McMillian sent a

routing \$li\$ to Flinn's prison stating "Talon Cutler-Flinn,"
DOC #405061; Requesting a copy of all records used in the classification hearing that are not already located in OnBase." CP 449 ¶11, 480. The same day Meyer filled out Public Records Unit Search Form indicating she spent less than 15 minutes searching email, OMNI, OnBase and did not locate esponsive records. CP 481. McMillian then searched OnBase and located the Classification Notice. CP 457.

McMillian asked the prison to confirm this was the only record used in the classification process. Id.

Sarah Deede clarified "The request is not for all of the paperwork given to the offender. The request is for all records <u>used</u> for the classification hearing. The Counselor, I assume, reviews different records and screens in OMMI to conduct classification hearings. We need all of those records. CP 456 (bold/underline mine)

Kitzi Brannock talked to Meyer. Although she does not remember the call, based on Department records Meyer indicate "She has nothing but the Classification Hearing Notice/Appearance Waiver." CP 476—456.

McMillian sent Flinn a letter identifying 5 responsive pages and offered copies upon payment. CP 462 63. Flinn submitted payment and McMillian sent the five pages closing the request. CP 456. McMillian produced the Classi ication Notice and Facility Plan. With the records was Agency Denial Form/Exemption Log that did not identify any records were being withheld.

Meyer and McMillian did not provide declarations in this matter and the record does not reflect who ctually located the Facility Plan. CP 537-38. 366-69, 449-51, 475-76. How ver Prannock declared "I am familiar other public record requests for records used in classification hearing. In my experience I have seen a varying amount of records provided. Put ultimately, I have to rely on the information rovided to me by the individuals involved in the specific classification action." CP 476 ¶7.

The Appellate Court found the search reasonable because it asked Flinn's counselor to conduct a search and his counselor spent less than 15 minutes searching OnBase and OMNI and did not locate any responsive records. The Department followed up with Meyer who indicated all she reviewed was the Facility Plan. App. App. 11-12.

The Appellate court acknowledged the Facility Plan referenced other records but determined that does not necessarily mean Meyev used or reviewed those records and the records show Meyer only used the Classification Notice and Facility Plan itself App Ap. 12

## E. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(1); RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2)(4)

 A Record Containing Information Referenced By A Governmental Agency In The Conduct Or Performance Of The Agencies Function And Decision Making Process Is Used By The Agency As Defined In RCW 42 56 010(3) Subjecting The Record To Disclosure Under RCW 42.56.070(1) Even If The Agency Did Not Physically Look At The Record.

It should be noted the Appellate Courts statement "In

fact, the record shows that Meyer used only the CFP itself and the classification notice" [App Ap. 12] is not accurately reflected in the record. The Facility Plan does not reflect any infractions under "Infraction Behavior" CP 401. But Meyer stated "[Flinn] lost earned time or the month of May 2019 for being terminated from his job as a result of an infraction. CP 402-03. The infraction summary is reflected in Flinn's OMN\*\* Legal Face Sheet obtained by Departments counsel. CP 404, 416

This court defined what constitutes "use" of a record subjecting it to disclosure in <u>Concerned Rate Payers Assin</u>

<u>v. PUD No. 1 of Clark County</u>, 138 Wn.2d 950, 960, holding an agency "use[s]" a public record if the record contains information that the agency either "(1) employ[s] for; (2) applie[s] to; or (3) ma[k]e[s] instrumental to a governmental end or purpose." This Court clarified that governmental end or purpose does not necessarily mean "an agency's final work product" Id. Specifically

[T]he critical inquiry is whether the requested information bears a nexus with the agency's decisionmaking process. A nexus between the information at is we and an agency's decision-making process exists where the information relates not only to the conduct or performance of the agency or its proprietary function, but is also a relevant factor in the agency's action. That is, certain data may still be relevant and an important consideration in an agency s decision making process even if it is not a par of the agency's final work product. Thus, mere reference to a document that has no relevance to an agency's conduct or perfomance my not constitute "use," but information that is reviewed evaluated or referred to and has an impact on an agency's decision-making process would be within the parameters of the [PRA]

Id. at 960-61.

Although the record does not indicate how Meyer was aware of Flinn's infraction the Appellate Court reasoned "[t]he record demonstrates that the referenced information in the [Facility Plan] are auto-filled from O'NI. Thus while there may be additional records referenced by the [Facility Plan], there does not necesserily mean that Meyer used or reviewed those particular records in Flinn's classification hearing." App. Ap. 12. This is in conflict with Concerned Rate Payers, entitling review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This involves an issue of significant public interest because Flian lose "earned time" for this unidentified infraction unnecessarily extending Flinns sentence at tax payer expense. In re Pers Restraint of Forbis, 150 Wh.2d 91, 78 It is possible Meyer was incorrect but since the department withheld the infraction record Flien, and the public are unable to challenge this or conitor the Departments use of tax payers funds. Therefore the Department used the infraction record in Flinn's classification process which is the nexus in the Departments decision making process. Additionally, the PRA is Very broad and meant to give the public access to information about every aspect of state and local government. Nissen v. Pierce County, 183 Wn.2d 863, 874. To allow the Department to withhold the infraction records €rom disclosure without citing to statutory exemption denies the public access and

violates RCW 42.56.070(1); RCW 42.56.210(3).

The Court should accept review re-affirming an agency does not need to actually review a record for it to be used by the agency subjecting it to disclosure and remand to the trial court to enter an order for the Department to produce all records referenced in the Facility Plan, enter judgment in favor of Flinn awarding him all costs including appellate costs, and set a penalty hearing after reasonable discovery. RCW 42 56 550(4)

The Appellate Court Erred When It Determined The Departments Adequate Search Absolved The Department From Liability Under The Public Records Act Although The Department Has Responsive Records It Has Not Produced In Response To Flinn's Request For All Classification Records

Sch. Dist. No. 7, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 108-117 the "adequate search rule". Justice Fearing correctly stated The Washington Court Of Appeals has contorted and distorted the supposed duty of an adequate search into a gift of immunity from liability when the agency conducts a reasonable search but fails to produce a record identified by him or her, the court grants the agency a safe harbor if the court deems the agency performed a reasonable search." Cantu, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 113-14 (noting Thrice, this court affi med summary judgment dismissal of PRA claims because of an adequate search despite evidence that that the government agency failed to produce one or more requested records.")

This Court wrote in <u>Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane</u>

County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 719 that the court

focuses on the adequacy of a search, not whether responsive documents exist but were not disclosed or produced.

Accordingly a search need not be perfect only adequate This Court compared an inacequate search to the denial of production of a record. Neighborhood, 172 Wn.2d at 721.

The Washington Court of Appeals has followed this language adopting a separate cause of action. But this Court in Neighborhood Alliance did not hold that an inadequate search forms an independent cause of action. This Court instead reserved for another day the question of whether the PRA authorizes a penalty if the requester would otherwise have no remedy for an unreasonable search. This Court limited its holding to char cterizing an inadequate search as an aggravating factor to be considered in setting the daily penalty amount. \_ant\_, 23 Wn.App.2d at 111-12; Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 724. However, this court did not hold that an inadequate search forms an independent cause of action. This Court instead reserved for another day the question of whether the PRA authorizes a penalty if the requestor would otherwise have no remedy for an unreasonable search. It did not hold an agency is absolved of lia ility or the duty to disclose responsive records when a court determines the agency's search was reasonable. To so hold would run afoul of the PRA's strong mandate of full disclosure. Id.

The PRA mandates full disclosure of public records except for limited exemptions provided by the act. The PRA

requires all state and local agencies to disclose any requested public record unless the record falls within a specific exemption. There is a strong presumption in favor of full disclosure. Washington court have long held that the PRA must be liberally construed to promote full access to public records. Cantu, 23 Wh.App.2d at 78.

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Appellate Courts decision is in conflict with Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d 702 which also conflicts with the statutory mandate of full disclose. This Court should also grant review under RAP 13 4(b)(4) because the PRA mandates full disclosure of public records for the people to keep control over governmental agencies and allowing such agence to avoid transparency and accountability through hiding responsive records under the guise of an anequate search would run afoul of the intent and purposes of the RPA.

This Court should accept review, clarifying an inadequate search does not provide a cause of action under the PRA and that an adequate search does not shield the agency from liability and the disclosure requirements when the agency retains responsive records but has failed to disclose or produce them in response to a PRA request.

#### F. CONCLUSION

The Court should accept review finding the Department used the infraction records and other records identified in the Facility Plan subjecting them to disclosure that the