FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/22/2023 2:04 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102255-7

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TALON CUTLER-FLINN,

Petitioner,

v.

# WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

# DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

TIMOTHY J. FEULNER WSBA #45396 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division P.O. Box 40116 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-1445 Tim.Feulner@atg.wa.gov

## **

I.	INTRODUCTION	
II.	STATEMENT OF ISSUE	
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
	A.	The Department's Classification System 3
	B.	Cutler-Flinn's Public Records Request 4
	C.	Cutler-Flinn Files a Lawsuit and the Superior Court Concludes That the Department Did Not Violate the PRA
	D.	The Court of Appeals Affirms the Dismissal of Cutler-Flinn's Claims
IV.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 10	
	A.	Cutler-Flinn Fails to Discuss in Any Meaningfully Manner the Criteria in RAP 13.4(b)
	В.	The Court of Appeals Decision Applied Well-Settled Case Law Involving the PRA and Its Decision in This Fact-Specific Case Does Not Warrant Review
V.	CONCLUSION	

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **Cases**

Cantu v. Yakima School District No. 7, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 661 (2022)13, 16, 17
Neighborhood Alliance v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011)13
West v. Port of Olympia, 183 Wn. App. 306, 333 P.3d 488 (2014)13
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 42.56.010(3)
RCW 42.56.070(1)
Rules
RAP 13.4
RAP 13.4(b)11
RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4)
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Talon Cutler-Flinn made a request under the Public Records Act (PRA) for all records used in one of his prison classification reviews. As the superior court found, the Department conducted an adequate search for records, provided all of the records that were reasonably identified within the request, and Cutler-Flinn was unable to identify any other records that were responsive to his request. As a result, the superior court correctly concluded that the Department did not violate the PRA and dismissed his claims. The Court of Appeals affirmed that dismissal in an unpublished opinion. In doing so, the Court of Appeals affirmed that the Department conducted an adequate search and rejected Cutler-Flinn's assertions that other records should have been produced. Cutler-Flinn now seeks discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision.

This Court should deny Cutler-Flinn's petition for review.

Cutler-Flinn's petition does not meaningfully address the criteria for discretionary review in RAP 13.4. Regardless, the Court of

Appeals decision on the specific facts of this case does not meet any of the criteria for discretionary review. Instead, the unpublished decision simply affirmed the superior court's decision that there was no PRA violation on the specific facts of this case. And despite Cutler-Flinn's suggestion that there were other unspecified records that were not provided to him, he explicitly acknowledged in the superior court that he could not identify any specific documents that were not provided to him.

Based on his own statements and the record, the superior court made factual findings that are now verities because Cutler-Flinn failed to assign error to them. These findings and the records support the determination by the superior court and the Court of Appeals that the Department did not violate the PRA. Therefore, this fact-specific case and the unpublished decision below do not meet the criteria for discretionary review and this Court should deny review.

///

///

#### II. STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Whether an agency violates the PRA when it conducts an adequate search and provides all responsive records that were reasonably interpreted to be within the scope of the request.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The Department's Classification System

The Department has a classification system by which it assigns incarcerated individuals to a given custody level. As part of this classification process, the Department conducts regular classification reviews for each incarcerated individual. CP 367. These classification reviews are very informal. CP 367. The decisions made in a classification review are captured in a custody facility plan (CFP). CP 367.

The actual classification "hearing" is conducted by a group of Department staff that is referred to as either a multi-disciplinary team or a facility risk management team. CP 367. Although the Department refers to these meetings as hearings, these classification actions are essentially a discussion between

the incarcerated individual and staff about classification issues. CP 367. The incarcerated individual is given at least forty-eight hours advance written notice of the hearing, unless the individual waives this notice, and the individual is given an opportunity to attend the hearing. CP 367. The actual hearing is generally short and informal. CP 367.

#### B. Cutler-Flinn's Public Records Request

On January 21, 2020, Cutler-Flinn spoke to Cindy Meyer, his classification counselor at the time, about his upcoming classification review. CP 402. As part of this classification review, Cutler-Flinn ultimately received a custody promotion to medium custody from close custody<sup>1</sup> and remained in the same facility where he was housed at the time. CP 403.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A custody promotion involves being moved from a higher custody (i.e. more restrictive custody) to a lower custody. Close custody is a more restrictive custody level than medium custody.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Cutler-Flinn claims in a conclusory manner that the 2020 classification action was "a significant change from Flinn's January 2019 classification." Petition for Discretionary Review, at 2. The Petition for Discretionary Review appears to be the first

A few weeks after the classification hearing, the Department received a public records request from Cutler-Flinn. CP 449, 454. In this request, Cutler-Flinn sought "all records used in [his January 2020] classification process." CP 454. The Department acknowledged this request within five business days and informed Cutler-Flinn of the estimated date by which he could expect an installment of records. CP 460.

On the same day that the request was received, the assigned public records specialist, Chase McMillan, forwarded the request to the Washington State Penitentiary (WSP) and asked staff at WSP to search for records. CP 449. After WSP staff initially responded that there were no responsive records, McMillan emailed WSP staff to ask staff additional questions about WSP's search and response to the request. CP 450, 457.

time that Cutler-Flinn has claimed in this case that the 2020 review involved some kind of significant change in his custody. That statement is belied by the record. Indeed, Cutler-Flinn received a custody promotion and did not attend his classification review.

McMillan and another staff member in the Department's public records unit subsequently exchanged a series of emails with staff at WSP regarding the request. CP 456-57.

After a follow-up question from McMillan, Kitzi Brannock, the public records coordinator at WSP, provided a copy of the CFP from the Department's electronic system, OMNI. CP 457, 449. Brannock also contacted Cutler-Flinn's classification counselor at the time, Cindy Meyer, and Meyer indicated that she had no records beyond the Classification Hearing Notice/Appearance Waiver form. CP 456. Those two documents were provided to Cutler-Flinn in response to his public records request after the Department received payment. CP 465-72. The Department did not receive any further correspondence from Cutler-Flinn related to this request until it was served with the lawsuit. CP 428.

///

///

## C. Cutler-Flinn Files a Lawsuit and the Superior Court Concludes That the Department Did Not Violate the PRA

The Department was served the present lawsuit in September 2020. CP 20-21, 31-32. After extensive pre-trial proceedings, the superior court set a hearing to determine whether the Department violated the PRA. CP 331-32.

After the Court considered briefing and argument from both parties, the superior court determined that the Department did not violate the PRA in its response to Cutler-Flinn's request.

The court made the following findings of fact:

1. The Department received Plaintiff Talon Cutler-Flinn's request on February 18, 2020. This request was assigned tracking number P-11804. The request sought all records "used in [Plaintiff's January 2020] classification process." Although this request was a request for identifiable public records for the reasons discussed below, it was a very broad request in that it sought "any and all records." Such a broad request does make it difficult to determine precisely what was being requested. The agency was justifiably confused about the precise nature of the records that Plaintiff was seeking.

. . .

- 5. The Department's search was reasonable. The Department's search was appropriately focused on the places where any records could be located. The Department's reliance upon Plaintiff Cutler-Flinn's classification counselor at the time was reasonable, and the Department's public records staff conducted appropriate follow up with WSP staff.
- 6. Plaintiff has failed to identify any specific documents that were not provided in response to his request and that were within the scope of his request. Even if he were able to identify such documents, the Department's search was reasonable.

CP 538-39. Cutler-Flinn appealed from that decision as well as various discovery rulings. Cutler-Flinn did not assign error to any of the above factual findings. Cutler-Flinn's COA Brief, at 1-2.

### D. The Court of Appeals Affirms the Dismissal of Cutler-Flinn's Claims

The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's dismissal of Cutler-Flinn's claims in an unpublished opinion. Slip Op., at 1-16. The Court of Appeals rejected Cutler-Flinn's argument that the Department violated the PRA by failing to conduct an adequate search. Slip Op., at 10. Instead, relying on

pre-existing case law describing the adequate search requirement, the Court of Appeals concluded that "the DOC performed an adequate search because the search was reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant records." Slip Op., at 11. The Court of Appeals also discussed Cutler-Flinn's arguments on appeal that there must have been other records that were responsive to his request.<sup>3</sup> Slip Op., at 12-14. As the Court of Appeals explained, Cutler-Flinn's speculation that there were other records responsive to his request was rebutted by the evidence presented by the Department in terms of what records were "used" for this particular classification action. Slip Op., at 12-14. Therefore, Cutler-Flinn failed to show any error on the part of the superior court and his PRA claims were appropriately dismissed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This argument on appeal was contrary to his own concession in the superior court and the unchallenged factual findings.

Cutler-Flinn seeks review from this unpublished decision.

The Department now responds and asks that the Court deny discretionary review.

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Cutler-Flinn suggests that review is appropriate because the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's precedent, conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Petition for Discretionary Review, at 4 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)). Although Cutler-Flinn identifies these grounds as the basis for his petition for discretionary review, he fails to conduct any meaningful analysis about how such criteria are met here.

Moreover, Cutler-Flinn does not accurately characterize the decision by the Court of Appeals or the superior court. Rather, both Courts concluded that the Department conducted an adequate search and that Cutler-Flinn failed to identify any nondisclosed records that were reasonably interpreted to be within the scope of his request. In reaching this decision, the Court of Appeals relied upon the specific facts of this case. Nothing about that decision conflicts with this Court's precedent or published decisions from the Court of Appeals. Given the fact specific nature of the issues in the case, it also does not raise an issue of substantial public importance. Therefore, the Court should deny discretionary review.

# A. Cutler-Flinn Fails to Discuss in Any Meaningfully Manner the Criteria in RAP 13.4(b)

RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4) outline the criteria for discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision that terminated review. Cutler-Flinn invokes three of the four criteria. Petition for Discretionary Review, at 4. However, he makes no meaningfully attempt to demonstrate that such criteria are met here and presents no meaningful argument about why the fact-specific, unpublished Court of Appeals decision warrants review under such criteria. Because Cutler-Flinn fails to demonstrate that the

Court of Appeals decision meets any of the criteria in RAP 13.4, the Court should deny the petition for discretionary review.

# B. The Court of Appeals Decision Applied Well-Settled Case Law Involving the PRA and Its Decision in This Fact-Specific Case Does Not Warrant Review

The Court of Appeals and the superior court both concluded that that the Department conducted an adequate search and that Cutler-Flinn failed to show that any other documents existed that were responsive to a reasonable interpretation of his request. Slip Op., at 11-14 (discussing the adequacy of the Department's search and rejecting Cutler-Flinn's arguments that other unspecified records should have been produced); CP 539 (making factual findings, which were unchallenged on appeal, that the Department conducted an adequate search and Cutler-Flinn failed to identify any specific documents that were not provided). Based on this, both the superior court and the Court of Appeals concluded that the Department did not violate the PRA on the specific facts of this case.

That unpublished decision applies well-established case law involving the PRA and the decision does not conflict with prior case law from this Court or the Court of Appeals. Instead, in reaching this decision, the Court of Appeals relied upon this Court's prior decision in Neighborhood Alliance v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011), which identified the standard for an agency's adequate search, and subsequent Court of Appeals case law applying that standard, including West v. Port of Olympia, 183 Wn. App. 306, 311, 333 P.3d 488 (2014), and Cantu v. Yakima School District No. 7, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 661 (2022). The Court of Appeals then applied this standard to the specific facts of this case. Slip Op., at 1 ("We hold that the DOC did not violate the PRA, because on this record, it conducted an adequate search."). As such, this decision does not establish any new principles under the PRA or conflict with any prior decision by this Court or the Court of Appeals.

Additionally, this decision does not implicate any issue of substantial public importance. The determination that the search

was adequate and that the Department did not violate the PRA by providing the CFP and classification hearing notice is incredibly fact specific. The Court of Appeals emphasized the fact-specific nature of its opinion. Slip Op., at 1, 13. The underlying request and classification action are also individualized to Cutler-Flinn and do not implicate any broader issue of public concern. Indeed, the request at issue was specific to a classification review that resulted in Cutler-Flinn being promoted to a lower custody level. Therefore, the Court of Appeals decision does not meet the criteria for discretionary review in RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4).

Cutler-Flinn urges this Court take review to address issues that are not implicated by the Court of Appeals decision. For instance, he argues that this Court should review the issue of whether "a record containing information referenced by a governmental agency in the conduct or performance of the agencies used in the conduct or performance of the agencies [sic] function and decision making process used by the agency as

defined in RCW 42.56.010(3) subjecting the record to disclosure under RCW 42.56.070(1) even if the agency personnel did not physically look at the record." Petition for Discretionary Review, at 1 (capitalization cleaned up). This issue was not something that is addressed at all in the Court of Appeals opinion and does not appear to be an issue raised below. Because the Court of Appeals decision does not implicate this issue and it was not raised below, it does not provide a basis for discretionary review.

Similarly, Cutler-Flinn asserts that the Court of Appeals decision warrants review because it absolves an agency from PRA liability when the agency conducts an adequate search and responsive records exist that are not disclosed. Petition for Discretionary Review, at 1. This argument though is contradicted by the record and is not implicated by the Court of Appeals decision. As discussed above, the Court of Appeals and superior court concluded that the Department conducted an adequate search and, importantly, that there was no support for the proposition that additional responsive records existed. As such,

this case does not implicate this issue. Additionally, this issue was not adequately preserved in the superior court. Instead, Cutler-Flinn's briefing focused primarily on the adequate search issue. Therefore, this case does not present a vehicle to review the issue identified in the petition for discretionary review.

Moreover, even if this broad principle were implicated by the facts of this case, Cutler-Flinn fails to show that this abstract issue warrants discretionary review of this case. To argue that this principle conflicts with prior case law, Cutler-Flinn cites to a dissenting opinion by Judge Fearing in Cantu v. Yakima School District No. 7, 23 Wn. App 2d 57, 108-17, 514 P.3d 661 (2022). In that dissenting opinion, Judge Fearing disagreed with existing PRA case law. Cantu, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 108-17 (Fearing, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). A dissenting opinion, however, does not establish precedent. As such, even if the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion that relied upon prior PRA precedent conflicted with Judge Fearing's dissent, such a conflict would not present a persuasive basis for granting discretionary

review in this case, especially in light of the fact-specific nature of the request and the Court of Appeals decision. For the reasons discussed above, the Court of Appeals below and the majority opinion in *Cantu* applied well-established PRA case law.

Because the Court of Appeals unpublished decision correctly applied pre-existing PRA precedent to specific facts of Cutler-Flinn's case, this Court should deny review.

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

#### V. CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, the Court should deny Cutler-Flinn's petition for discretionary review.

This document contains 2,748 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.